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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI 
SOUTHERN DIVISION 

 
ROBERT R. GAGNÉ 

Plaintiff 
 
VERSUS         CIVIL ACTION NO.:  1:06-CV-00711-LTS-RHW 
 
STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY COMPANY,  
And DEFENDANTS JOHN DOES 1-10 

Defendants 
 

 
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 
 COMES NOW Plaintiff, Robert R. Gagné, through undersigned counsel, and files this 

Amended Complaint against the Defendants, State Farm Fire and Casualty Company, adding 

Defendants Exponent Failure Analysis Associates, John Osteraas, Steven Shekerlian, Thomas, 

Luth and Associates, Thomas & Luth, Inc., and Calvin Thomas.  The original Complaint filed in 

this case on July 21, 2006 is hereby incorporated by reference and attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

In support thereof, Plaintiff would show unto this Honorable Court the following: 

I.  PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff, ROBERT R. GAGNÉ, is an adult resident of the State of Mississippi and 

owner of property in Hancock County, Mississippi insured by State Farm who resides at 640 

Koula Drive, Diamondhead, Mississippi 39525.   

2.  Defendant  STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY COMPANY (hereafter referred to 

as “State Farm”), is a foreign insurance company organized under the laws of the State of 

Illinois, transacting business in the State of Mississippi, with its principal office and place of 

business located at One State Farm Plaza, Bloomington, Illinois 71701-0001, and is amenable to 

service of process through its registered agent, Mr. William E. Penna, 1080 River Oaks Drive, 
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Suite B-100, Flowood, Mississippi 39232-7644 or through the Mississippi Insurance 

Commissioner, P.O. Box 79, Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0079, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 

83-21-1; 

3.  DEFENDANT JOHN D. OSTERAAS (hereinafter Osteraas), is an individual over the 

age of eighteen (18) and based upon information and belief, is believed to reside in the state of 

California and is a Licensed Professional Engineer in the State of Mississippi. 

4. DEFENDANT STEVEN SHEKERLIAN (hereinafter Shekerlian), is an individual over 

the age of eighteen (18) and based upon information and belief, is believed to reside in the state 

of California and is a Licensed Professional Engineer in the State of Mississippi. 

5.  DEFENDANT EXPONENT, INC. (hereinafter Exponent), is a corporation doing 

business in the state of California and incorporated in Delaware. Exponent also conducts 

business in the Southern District of the State of Mississippi. 

6. DEFENDANT CALVIN THOMAS (hereinafter Thomas), is an individual over the age 

of eighteen (18) and based upon information and belief, is believed to reside in the state of 

Louisiana and is a Licensed Professional Engineer in the State of Mississippi. 

7.  DEFENDANT THOMAS & LUTH, INC. (hereinafter Thomas & Luth), is a 

corporation doing business in the state of Louisiana and incorporated in Louisiana, that also 

conducts business in the Southern District of the State of Mississippi. 

8. DEFENDANT THOMAS, LUTH AND ASSOCIATES, INC. (hereinafter Thomas, Luth 

& Associates), is a corporation doing business in the state of Louisiana and incorporated in 

Louisiana that also conducts business in the Southern District of the State of Mississippi. 
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II.  SUBJECT MATTER AND PERSONAL JURISDICTION 

9. This court has jurisdiction over the subject matter and Defendants in this case 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332 because the amount in controversy exceeds the sum or value of 

seventy-five thousand dollars ($75,000), exclusive of interest and costs and there is diversity of 

citizenship between Plaintiff and all Defendants; 28 U.S.C. § 1331 as matters of federal question 

pursuant to causes of actions arising under the Constitution, laws and treaties of the United 

States; 28 U.S.C. § 1337 for claims arising under any Act of Congress regulating commerce or 

protecting trade and commerce against restraints and monopolies; as well as 28 U.S.C. § 1985 

wherein more than two State Farm agents, successors and assigns have conspired for the purpose 

of impeding, hindering, obstructing, and defeating the due course of justice, with intent to deny 

citizens equal protection of the laws, due process of law, access to courts and injuring Plaintiff 

and other State Farm policyholders, and their property. 

III.  VENUE 

10. Venue in this cause is proper in this court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391, because 

this suit respects real and personal properties located exclusively within the jurisdiction of the 

United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi, where the subject contract, 

acts and or omissions upon which this cause of action are based occurred.  

IV.  FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

11. Plaintiff purchased a residence at 320 Puunani Place, Diamondhead, Mississippi, 

39525 in the year 2000. 

12. Plaintiff secured insurance coverage in the form of a homeowner’s policy issued 

by Defendant State Farm Fire and Casualty Company. 
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13. Plaintiff dutifully and promptly paid his premiums and the subject policy was in 

full force and effect on August 29, 2005. 

14. Subject Insurance policy was assigned policy number 24-B9-7664-5 (hereafter 

“subject policy”), naming Robert R. Gagné as the insured. 

15.  The subject policy insured the Dwelling at 320 Puunani Place, Diamondhead, 

Mississippi for $465,200.00 with an Increased Dwelling Option of up to $93,040.00; Dwelling 

Extensions for $46,520.00; the Personal Property thereof for $348,900.00; and the Loss of Use 

for the “actual loss sustained.”  The operative policy period was from 9/20/04 to 9/20/05.  The 

subject policy contained other endorsements including, but not limited to, an Inflation Coverage 

Index and a Deductible of $1000 on all losses.  A copy of the subject policy was attached as 

Exhibit “A” to the original Complaint. 

16. On August 29, 2005, the insured property was damaged.  Plaintiff lost his entire 

home and all of his personal belongings.  The losses were covered under the subject policy. 

17.  When State Farm acted on Plaintiff’s claim, they sent out Roger E. Bailey of 

Bailey & Associates and Calvin C. Thomas of Thomas, Luth & Associates, Inc. and/or Thomas 

and Luth, Inc. to perform an “engineering evaluation” of Plaintiff’s residence on October 6, 

2005, acting as ‘Exponent Failure Analysis Associates’  and ‘Site Inspection Personnel’, for 

State Farm.  Mr. Bailey and Mr. Thomas met with Plaintiff and opined directly to Plaintiff that 

Plaintiff’s home was damaged by wind and water and that their report would reflect that.  

Subsequent to the inspection, upon inquiry from Plaintiff, State Farm informed  Plaintiff that 

State Farm cancelled its contract with Calvin C. Thomas and a report was never delivered to 

State Farm as a result of the October 6, 2005 inspection.  According to State Farm, Calvin 

Thomas never issued a report to State Farm. 
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18. State Farm subsequently forwarded a report dated November 30, 2005, allegedly 

based upon the October 6, 2005 inspection by Roger Bailey and Calvin Thomas.  The report was 

signed by John D. Osteraas, as Principal Engineer and Calvin Thomas, as a Consulting Engineer, 

but was not signed by Roger E. Bailey.  This generalized report lacked relevant findings 

particularized to Plaintiff’s residence.  This November 30, 2005 report stated in relevant part: 

“Storm surge flooding damage obliterated any evidence of wind 
damage. Thus we cannot definitively identify the extent of wind 
damage that may have preceded destruction of the building.  
However, based upon our observations of other properties in the 
area, it  is possible that the wind caused damage to roofing 
shingles, paper and sheathing, and may have caused structural 
damage to the roof prior to destruction of the building….”  

 
19. On November 11, 2005, State Farm notified Plaintiff in writing that it was 

denying his claim and that all of Plaintiff’s damage resulted from losses not insured under the 

subject policy and that it would no longer be able to reimburse him for additional living 

expenses.   The writing stated specifically, in relevant part: 

“We have determined your damage resulted from SECTION I – LOSSES NOT 
INSURED in your FP-7955 Homeowners policy. 
 
The applicable policy language of your Homeowners Policy (FP-7955) reads as 
follows: 
 
SECTION I – LOSSES NOT INSURED 
 
2. We do not insure under any coverage for any loss which would not have 
occurred in the absence of one or more of the following excluded events. We do 
not insure for such loss regardless of: (a) the cause of the excluded event; or (b) 
other causes of the loss; or (c) whether other causes acted concurrently or in any 
sequence with the excluded event to produce the loss; or (d) whether the event 
occurs suddenly or gradually, involves isolated or widespread damage, arises 
from natural or external forces, or occurs as a result of any combination of these: 
 
c.  Water Damage, meaning: 
 (1)  flood, surface water, waves, tidal water, tsunami, seiche, overflow 
of body water, or spray from any of these, all whether driven by wind or not;” 
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20. In early January of 2006, Plaintiff requested a second inspection based upon new 

definitive evidence that his home and personal property were destroyed by wind prior to any 

relevant storm surge arrival.  This evidence included, in part, the following:  high winds carried a 

large intact section of porch from the adjacent residence at 322 Puunani Place to great height, 

then dropped it to the ground in a confined area over 400 feet from the house and in a location 

completely different from other debris (and inconsistent with the flow of storm surge); 

eyewitness reports; non-flooded homes in the area with extensive wind damage; new wind and 

storm surge data;  new meteorological data; a forensic arborist report; and the discovery of debris 

from various parts of the house that were trapped under crushed rock. This crushed rock 

evidence clearly indicated that major sections of the home had collapsed before the crushed rock 

was moved on top of the debris by water.  The debris that was covered by water deposited rock 

included kitchen utensils, items from bedrooms on the second floor of the home, and sections of 

the front porch, the roof and siding from the house.  Clearly, the debris had fallen to the ground 

prior to the crushed rocks being layered on top of it by the storm surge. 

21. After initially telling Plaintiff that a second inspection “was not going to happen” 

State Farm finally sent out Steve Shekerlian of Exponent Analysis Associates to investigate the 

new evidence on February 10, 2006.  Neither Roger E. Bailey of Bailey & Associates nor Calvin 

C. Thomas of Thomas, Luth & Associates, Inc. was present at the second inspection. The 

crushed rock evidence and the debris underneath it were shown to Mr. Shekerlein.  The other 

new additional evidence was discussed and shown to him. Several months passed, yet the second 

report was not forthcoming.  When Plaintiff inquired as to why the report had not been issued, he 

was told by Mr. Shekerlian that he was waiting on direction from State Farm to complete his 

report.  Supplemental Report Number 1 was finally issued on May 8, 2006. 
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22. The report is bizarre.  It continues to follow the State Farm policy of admitting 

wind damage but refusing to definitively quantify it (failing to adjust the claim or offer money 

for the admitted damage) while claiming water eventually came (adjusting the policy exclusion 

only).  It amazingly concludes Hurricane Katrina was responsible for only ten tornadoes on 

August 29, 2005 and that these tornadoes were confined to central and east-central portions of 

Mississippi, far north of the Gulf Coast.  It asserts that peak winds occurred essentially 

concurrently with maximum flood depth.  It ignored completely the crushed rock evidence and 

the household debris underneath – failing to comment on the evidence that had precipitated the 

second inspection.  It concluded that nothing in the correspondence, reports, interviews and 

supplemental inspection “would necessitate modifications of the conclusions of our November 

30, 2005 report.”  The report was signed by Steve Shekerlian, Managing Engineer and John D. 

Osteraas, Practice Director and Principal Engineer. 

23. Depositions of John Osteraas and Steven Shekerlian were held June 28, 2007, in 

Menlo Park, California.  At these depositions, Plaintiff learned several disturbing facts. 

24. The original inspecting engineer, Calvin Thomas, had prepared field notes that 

documented his inspection and unequivocally concluded with the last line “THE 

CATOSTROPHIC LOSS WAS CAUSED BY WIND.” 

25. That Exponent and Osteraas claimed to NEVER have shared this finding with 

State Farm prior to it being requested in this litigation; See Exhibit B, Testimony of John 

Osteraas at his 6/28/07 deposition, page 50, lines 8-25, page 51, lines 1-25 & page 52, lines 1-

12. 
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26. That Exponent was asked to cease all work on the Gagné file on November 11, 

2005 yet inexplicably continued working the claim; See Exhibit C, Haddock Cancellation 

Notice. 

27.     That Exponent was asked to forward all investigative materials on the Gagné file 

and not write a report on November 11, 2005 yet inexplicably produced a report 19 days later on 

November 30, 2005; See Exhibit D, Unsolicited Report dated 11/30/05. 

28. Defendants Osteraas and Thomas had a “coming to God” meeting at a Gulfport, 

Mississippi Waffle House sometime in November prior to November 23, 2005; See Exhibit A, 

See Exhibit B, Testimony of John Osteraas at his 6/28/07 deposition, page 77, lines 2-8 . 

29. That Defendant Calvin Thomas e-mailed Defendant Osteraas on November 23, 2005 

stating he may need to change his initial findings because he had been laboring (for nearly three 

months) under the delusion that “sustained winds in the range of 160 to 175 miles per hour” hit 

the Mississippi Coast; See attached Exhibit E, epiphany email. 

30.  At State Farm’s 30(b)(6) deposition on July 27, 2007, they claimed they were not 

aware that the lead engineer who inspected the property had concluded after his site inspection 

that “the catastrophic loss was caused by wind.”  

31.  State Farm also asserted at the July 27th deposition that the report must have been 

substantially completed and was forwarded in the routine course of business.  This assertion is 

contradicted by the facts that: 1) the lead engineer who ultimately signed off on the report was 

still laboring under the delusion that “Sustained winds from Hurricane Katrina were in the range 

of 160 to 175 miles per hour; 2) the “coming to God” meeting did not occur until after the 

assignment was cancelled; 3) the epiphany email where Calvin Thomas suddenly realized that 

Hurricane Katrina did not come ashore in South Diamondhead with sustained winds well into the 
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category five range was not written until November 23, 2005; and 4) Exponent issued a report 

dated November 30, 2005 – signed by Calvin Thomas. 

32. The November 30, 2005 report is a boilerplate report that ignores the individual 

characteristics of each individualized homeowners’ claim and site conditions.  Nearly identical 

reports were issued in the claims made by Irene Mills and Valarie Bowen.  Plaintiff’s 

respectfully aver that an inspection of all of the Exponent reports would reveal that these 

“engineering inspections” were nothing more than a ruse to support wind/water protocol denials 

after the fact and in preparation for litigation.  

 33. Rather than offer a good faith adjustment of their claims, which policyholders are 

entitled to under their policies of insurance, Federal laws, relevant Mississippi laws, regulations, 

due process of law and other requirements of proper business practices and fair dealings.  State 

Farm chose the following course of action: 

a.  Deny the claim based upon the impermissible shifting of the burden to the   

  homeowner based upon an internal policy sometimes referred to as the   

  “Wind Water Claim Handling Protocol,” which would also become known as the  

  “Hinckle Protocol.” 

b. Have Exponent, Osteraas, Shekerlian, Thomas & Luth, and Thomas suppress  

 any evidence of wind damage and issue a report based upon global meteorological  

 conditions that affirmed State Farm’s preordained conclusion that they were not   

 responsible for payment. 

VI. CAUSES OF ACTION 

COUNT I 

DETRIMENTAL RELIANCE 
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 34.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates and adopts by reference each and every allegation set 

forth in paragraphs 1-34 of this Amended Complaint and the entirety of the original Complaint. 

 35. Defendants Exponent, Osteraas, Shekerlian, Luth & Thomas, Inc., and Calvin 

Thomas all held themselves out to Plaintiff as certified engineers licensed in the State of 

Mississippi.   

 36. Plaintiff reasonably relied upon them to provide engineering services consistent 

with applicable standards in their field. 

 37. Defendants individually and in concert with one another did not provide 

engineering services consistent with applicable standards in their field.  In fact, they acted as a 

repository for any and all evidence of wind damage, purposefully suppressing such relevant 

evidence away from Plaintiff’s insurer, harming plaintiff and denying him a valid 

reconsideration of his claim.  

COUNT II 

Negligence 

Negligent Misrepresentation 

Negligent Supervision 

 38. Plaintiffs adopt and re-allege all paragraphs above as if fully restated herein.  

 39. Defendant STATE FARM was negligent in the marketing, sale and/or procurement of 

the respective policies of insurance identified above. Although marketed, advertised and sold as 

policies which would provide specified amounts of insurance coverage in the event Plaintiff’s 

home was destroyed or damaged by the components of a Hurricane, the Defendants have denied 

Plaintiff’s properly and timely filed claims. As a direct and proximate result, Plaintiff has 
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suffered significant monetary loss, mental anguish and severe emotional distress. Plaintiff seeks 

actual and extra-contractual compensatory damages from the Defendant.  

 40. Defendant STATE FARM negligently investigated and denied Plaintiff’s properly 

and timely filed claims. As a direct and proximate result, Plaintiff has suffered significant 

monetary loss, mental anguish and severe emotional distress. Plaintiff seeks actual and extra- 

contractual compensatory damages from the Defendant.  

 41. Defendant STATE FARM negligently misrepresented the nature and character of the 

respective policies of insurance identified above. Although marketed, advertised and sold as 

policies which would provide specified amounts of insurance coverage in the event Plaintiff’s 

home was destroyed or damaged by components of a hurricane, STATE FARM has denied 

Plaintiff’s properly and timely filed claims. As a direct and proximate result, Plaintiff has 

suffered significant monetary loss, mental anguish and severe emotional distress. Plaintiff seeks 

actual and extra-contractual compensatory damages from the Defendant.  

 42. Defendants OSTERAAS and EXPONENT negligently, recklessly, or by design and 

intent; relied upon inaccurate data, ignored credible eyewitness testimony, and negligently or 

falsely reported conclusions about the wind damage to Plaintiffs’ property. Their conduct fell 

below the standard of care for their profession and as a direct result Plaintiffs’ were injured as set  

forth below.  

 43. Defendants STATE FARM and EXPONENT negligently hired, retained, trained 

and/or supervised their employees and agents. As a direct or proximate result Plaintiff was 

injured as set out below.  

 44. To the extent the Defendant’s conduct was intentional, willful, reckless, wanton, 

grossly negligent, malicious, abusive, done with insult, or part of a pattern and practice or course 
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of conduct of misinforming and deceiving consumers including Plaintiff; Plaintiff seeks punitive 

damages.  

COUNT III 

Negligence Per Se 

 45. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all paragraphs above as if fully restated herein.  

 46. Defendant STATE FARM violated MS ST § 97-23-3 by marketing and advertising 

their respective policies of insurance identified above through the use of letters, brochures and 

other means which contained assertions, representations, and/or statements of fact which were 

untrue, deceptive or misleading. MS ST § 97-23-3 was promulgated for the benefit of Plaintiff 

and other similarly situated citizens and, as such, the Defendant’s conduct is negligent per se. As 

a direct and proximate result, Plaintiff has suffered significant monetary loss, mental anguish and 

severe emotional distress. Plaintiff seeks actual and extra-contractual compensatory damages 

from the Defendant.  

 47. To the extent the Defendant’s conduct was intentional, willful, reckless, wanton, 

grossly negligent, malicious, abusive, done with insult, or part of a pattern and practice or course 

of conduct of misinforming and deceiving consumers including Plaintiff, Plaintiff seeks punitive 

damages.  

COUNT IV 

Breach of Contract 

 48. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all paragraphs above as if fully restated herein.  

 49. Defendant STATE FARM breached its insurance contracts with Plaintiff by failing 

and refusing to timely investigate and pay the properly filed claims by Plaintiff pursuant to his 

respective policy of insurance identified above. As a direct and proximate result, Plaintiff has 
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suffered significant monetary loss, mental anguish and severe emotional distress. Plaintiff seeks 

actual and extra-contractual compensatory damages from the Defendant.  

 50. To the extent the Defendant’s conduct was tortious, intentional, willful, reckless, 

wanton, grossly negligent, malicious, abusive, done with insult, or part of a pattern and practice 

or course of conduct, Plaintiff seeks punitive damages.  

COUNT V 

Bad Faith 

 51. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all paragraphs above as if fully restated herein.  

 52. Defendant STATE FARM, in bad faith, failed to adequately and timely investigate 

Plaintiff’s claims. As part of a wrongful course of conduct and pattern and practice of summarily 

evaluating then denying Hurricane Katrina claims, STATE FARM ignored credible evidence to 

the contrary and instead relied upon vague, inaccurate and non-conclusive engineering reports to 

deny such claims, including Plaintiff’s claims.  

 53. Defendant STATE FARM, in bad faith, failed to pay Plaintiff’s properly filed claims 

for damages. As part of a wrongful course of conduct and pattern and practice of summarily 

evaluating, then denying Hurricane Katrina claims, STATE FARM ignored credible evidence to 

the contrary and instead relied upon vague, inaccurate and non-conclusive engineering reports to 

deny such claims, including Plaintiff’s claims.  

 54. The above described conduct of STATE FARM in this count was designed to 

manufacture a false and inaccurate reason to deny Plaintiff’s claims. STATE FARM’S conduct 

was malicious, grossly negligent, and done with a reckless disregard of Plaintiff’s rights, so as to 

constitute an independent tort.  
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 55. As a direct and proximate result of the wrongful conduct described in this count, 

Plaintiff has suffered significant monetary loss, mental anguish and severe emotional distress. 

Plaintiff seeks actual and extra-contractual compensatory damages and punitive damages from 

the Defendant.  

COUNT VI 

Violation of Mississippi Statute § 97-23-3 (Deceptive Advertising) 

 56. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all paragraphs above as if fully restated herein.  

 57. Defendant STATE FARM violated MS ST § 97-23-3 by marketing and advertising its 

respective policies of insurance identified above through the use of letters, brochures and other 

means which contained assertions, representations, and/or statements of fact which were untrue, 

deceptive or misleading. As a direct and proximate result, Plaintiffs have suffered significant 

monetary loss, mental anguish and severe emotional distress. Plaintiffs seek actual and extra-

contractual compensatory damages from the Defendant.  

 58. To the extent the Defendant’s wrongful conduct was extreme, intentional, willful, 

reckless, wanton, grossly negligent, malicious, abusive, done with insult, or part of a pattern and 

practice or course of conduct of misinforming and deceiving consumers including Plaintiff, 

Plaintiff seeks punitive damages.  

COUNT VII 

Conspiracy 

Aiding and Abetting 

 59. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all paragraphs above as if fully restated herein.  

 60. Defendants STATE FARM, OSTERAAS and EXPONENT conspired to conduct 

unlawful, predatory, oppressive and/or immoral business activity. Each Defendant was present, 
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encouraging, aiding, assisting, and/or abetting the business activity of the other and as such 

condoned, facilitated and/or ratified the wrongful conduct afore-stated.  

 61. Each Defendant named in this count acted knowingly, intentionally and/or with a 

reckless indifference for the truth when they aided and/or assisted the continuity of the scheme to 

deny Plaintiff’s claims.  

 62. The wrongful acts of collusion and/or civil conspiracy by all Defendants named in 

this count, consummated in part by their individual employees, officers and/or directors, much of 

which involved interstate communications by use of wire and/or the U.S. Mail, proximately 

and/or directly caused Plaintiff to be damaged as set forth below.  

COUNT VIII 

Fraudulent Misrepresentation and/or Omission 

 63. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all paragraphs above as if fully restated herein. 

 64. Defendants made specific representations regarding causation in their reporting 

contrary to the facts discovered and ascertained during the property site analysis. 

 65. Defendants purposefully failed to disclose these material facts. 

 66. Defendants concocted a scheme to hide the relevant facts. 

 67. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ fraudulent misrepresentations, 

concealment and omissions, the Plaintiff has been proximately damaged in an amount to be 

shown at trial. 

 68.  The Defendants’ fraudulent conduct was willful, wanton and malicious, thereby 

entitling the Plaintiff to recovery of punitive damages against the Defendants. 
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COUNT IX 

Estoppel 

 69. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all paragraphs above as if fully restated herein. 

 70. The Plaintiff reasonable relied to his detriment on the misrepresentations concerning 

material facts made by the Defendants, and this concealment of material facts by the Defendants 

as set forth in the foregoing paragraphs. 

 71.  Under the doctrines of equitable estoppel and promissory estoppel, the Defendants 

are liable to the Plaintiff for his resulting damages.  Further, the Defendants should be estopped 

from asserting any contractual and/or limitations defenses to the causes of action stated herein. 

COUNT X 

Negligent, Grossly Negligent and Wanton Failure to Monitor, Train and Supervise 

 72. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all paragraphs above as if fully restated herein. 

 73. The Defendant State Farm was grossly negligently and/or wanton in failing to 

monitor  the actions of their officers, employees, agents, and/or third party hirees. 

 74. Plaintiff relied on the requisitioned engineering analysis to comport with accepted 

engineering practices and instead received a global weather report purposefully designed to 

shield the Defendant State Farm from responsibility under the policy.  State Farm did nothing to 

insure that proper engineering practices were followed and in fact encouraged and supported the 

hiding of relevant and material data from the Plaintiff. 

 75. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ Negligent, Grossly Negligent and 

Wanton Failure to Monitor, Train And Supervise, the Plaintiff has been proximately damaged in 

an amount to be shown at trial. 
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 76. The Defendants’ fraudulent conduct was willful, wanton and malicious, thereby 

entitling the Plaintiff to recovery of punitive damages against the Defendants.  

COUNT XI 

Damages 

 77. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all paragraphs above as if fully restated herein.  

 78. Defendant’s wrongful conduct as stated above injured Plaintiff as follows:  

 a. Plaintiff suffered and will continue to suffer substantial economic loss  

 and expense.  

 b. Plaintiff suffered and will suffer in the future severe emotional distress,  

 mental anguish and insult.  

 79. To the extent defendant’s wrongful conduct was: reckless; grossly negligent; willful; 

intentional; wanton; unconscionable; part of a course of conduct or pattern and practice to 

misinform, deny claims or deceive; and/or done with insult; Plaintiff is entitled to and demands 

punitive damages.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 80. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all paragraphs above as if fully restated herein.  

 81. Plaintiff demands judgment as set out below from all defendants, jointly and  

severally:  

 a. Compensatory, actual and economic damages in the total amount  

 necessary to rebuild his home and replace his personal belongings and contents;  

 b. Extra-contractual compensatory damages in an amount to be awarded by a jury;  

 c. Punitive damages in an amount to be awarded by a jury;  

 d. Reasonable attorney’s fees; and,  
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 e. Costs of this proceeding. 

f. All of the above referenced damages, as applicable to any and all properly joined 

Defendants including, but not limited to Board members and officers of State Farm, Exponent, 

Thomas & Luth, Thomas, Luth and Associates, Osteraas, Shekerlian, and/or Thomas who acted 

ultra vires or outside the scope of reasonable business judgment in adhering to their fiduciary 

duties to plaintiff, or in colluding with others to deny or disregard the rights of Plaintiff. 

g. Plaintiff respectfully requests such further general or specific relief to which he is 

entitled to at law or in equity. 

Respectfully submitted this 10th day of October, 2007 

Robert Gagné, Plaintiff 

By: Hearin, LLC and the Law Office of Donald J. Rafferty  

   __/S/ Donald J. Rafferty            
   Donald J. Rafferty, MS State Bar Roll No. 4599 
   Law Office of Donald R. Rafferty, PA 
   2118 18th Street 

Post Office Box 4252 
Gulfport, MS 39502; PH: 228-868-5421; Fax: 228-868-5422 

 
   /S/ Jesse B. Hearin, III                                        
   Jesse B. Hearin, III, La. State Bar Roll No. 22422 
   Hearin, LLC 
   USDC, Southern District of Mississippi Bar No. 44802 
   14116 Customs Blvd., Suite 111 
   Gulfport, MS 39503; PH: 228-822-4790; Fax: 228-822-4791 
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